#### 42844-0-II

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

State of Washington Appellant

**v.** 

TAWANA LEA DAVIS Respondent

42844-0

On Appeal from the Kitsap County Superior Court

Cause No. 11-1-00248-7

The Honorable Sally F. Olsen

## **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

Jordan B. McCabe, WSBA # 27211 For Appellant, Tawana L. Davis

> McCABE LAW OFFICE PO Box 46668, Scattle, WA 98146 206-453-5604 • jordan.mccabe@.comcast.net

### **CONTENTS**

I.	Authorities Citedii

II.	Assignments of Error and Issues iii				
III.	Summary of the Case 1				
IV.	Stater	Statement of the Case 1			
V.	Argur	Argument			
	1.	The "controlled buys were fatally defective			
	2.	The "controlled buy" evidence was insufficient to establish probable cause for a warrant to search Appellant's dwelling			
	3.	Davis received ineffective assistance of counsel			
	4.	The court erroneously excluded highly relevant evidence of bias			
	5.	The court erroneously admitted highly prejudicial inadmissible hearsay			
	6.	The evidence was insufficient to prove delivery of a non-controlled substance			
	7	The unlawful use of a building statute is unconstitutional as applied			
	8.	The evidence was insufficient to establish a school zone enhancement			
VI.	Concl	lusion			

### I. <u>AUTHORITIES CITED</u>

## Washington Cases

City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171 795 P.2d 693 (1990)
City of Spokane v. Kruger, 116 Wn.2d 135 803 2Pd 305
Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012)
Miebach v. Colasurdo, 35 Wn. App. 803 670 P.2d 276 (1983)
State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106 156 P.3d 201 (2007)
State v. Bauer, 98 Wn. App. 870 991 P.2d 668, 671 (2000) 11
State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136 892 P.2d 29 (1995)
State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422 173 P.3d 245 (2007)
State v. Casto, 39 Wn. App. 229 692 P.2d 890 (1984)
State v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15 940 P.2d 1374 (1997)
State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262 906 P.2d 925 (1995)
State v. Dalton, 73 Wn. App. 132 868 P.2d 873 (1994) 11

State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)
State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) 22, 25
State v. Dixon, 159 Wn.2d 65 147 P.3d 991 (2006)
State v. Dolan, 118 Wn. App. 323 73 P.3d 1011 (2003)
State v. Edwards, 131 Wn. App. 611 128 P.3d 631 (2006)
State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727 202 P.3d 937, 946 (2009) 17, 18
State v. Fitzsimmons, 93 Wn.2d 436 610 P.2d 893 (1980)
State v. G.M.V., 135 Wn. App. 366 144 P.3d 358 (2006)
State v. Garrison, 118 Wn.2d 870 827 P.2d 1388 (1992)
State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17 246 P.3d 1260 (2011)
State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412 705 P.2d 1182 (1985)
State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97 954 P.2d 900 (1998)
State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1 659 P.2d 514 (1983)
State v. Iverson, 126 Wn. App. 329 108 P.3d 799 (2005)

State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444 69 P.3d 318 (2003)
State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 432 688 P.2d 136 (1984) 11, 12
State v. Jackson, 111 Wn. App. 660 46 P.3d 257 (2002)
State v. Jackson, 137 Wn.2d 712 976 P.2d 1229 (1999)
State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596 115 P.3d 281 (2005)
State v. Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54 950 P.2d 981 (1998)
State v. Maciolek, 101 Wn.2d 259 676 P.2d 996 (1984)
State v. Maddox, 116 Wn. App. 796 67 P.3d 1135, 1139 (2003)
State v. McDaniel, 83 Wn. App. 179 920 P.2d 1218 (1996)
State v. McDonald, 138 Wn.2d 680 981 P.2d 443 (1999) 10
State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) 14
State v. Meckelson, 133 Wn. App. 431 135 P.3d 991 (2006)
State v. Rainey, 107 Wn. App. 129 28 P.3d 10 (2001)
State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471 14 P.3d 713 (2000)

State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471 14 P.3d 713 (2000)
State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)
State v. Smith, 165 Wn. App. 296 266 P.3d 250 (2011)
State v. Spencer, 111 Wn. App. 401 45 P.3d 209 (2002)
State v. Stanton, 68 Wn. App. 855 845 P.2d 1365 (1993)
State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133 977 P.2d 582 (1999) 10
State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91 59 P.3d 58, 68-69 (2002) 11
State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342 68 P.3d 282 (2003)
State v. Wilder, 4 Wn. App. 850 486 P.2d 319 (1971)
State v. Wilson, 125 Wn.2d 212 883 P.2d 320 (1994)
State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173 867 P.2d 593 (1994)

## **Federal Cases**

Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673
106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986) 17, 18
Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154
98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978) 15

Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527, 530 (1983) 11
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)

### **Constitutional Provisions**

Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 7 10
Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 22 17
U.S. Const. Amend. IV 10
U.S. Const. Amend. VI 13, 17

### **Washington Statutes**

RCW 69.50.435	
RCW 69.50.401	
RCW 69.50.4012	
RCW 69.53.010	

## Law Reviews & Misc.

Tegland, Karl B.,	
5AWASHINGTON PRACTICE – EVIDENCE LAW AND PRA	CTICE
5th ed (2007)	17

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR & ISSUES

#### A. Assignments of Error.

1. Appellant was convicted of multiple controlled substance offenses on insufficient evidence in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Article I. Section 22 of the Washington Constitution.

2. Appellant was convicted on evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, § 7 when her dwelling was searched pursuant to a warrant issued without probable cause.

3. Appellant received ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution.

4. The trial court denied Appellant's right to confrontation and to present a complete defense, in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 22.

5. The trial court abused its discretion by admitting inadmissible hearsay that encompassed incriminating 3<sup>rd</sup> degree hearsay attributed to Appellant.

6. The evidence was insufficient to prove Appellant made her dwelling available for an unlawful purpose.

7. The evidence was insufficient to establish multiple school zone enhancements.

#### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.

1. Can a conviction for delivery of a controlled substance rest upon an alleged "controlled" buy by manifestly unreliable informants where the location precludes police surveillance and provides numerous alternative opportunities to obtain drugs and hide buy money?

2. Can a fatally defective "controlled" buy establish probable cause for a search warrant?

3. Did Appellant receive ineffective assistance where her counsel (a) failed to challenge the invalid search warrant, and (b) failed to challenge the erroneous application of the school zone enhancement statute?

4. Do the rights to confrontation and to present a complete defense encompass evidence of the motives and opportunities of the State's witnesses to lie?

5. In a prosecution for delivery of a controlled substance, does the court commit reversible error by permitting a witness to testify to an out-of-court statement made to the witness by a declarant who said the defendant had made an out-of-court statement to her that she had drugs to sell?

6. Was the evidence obtained in the defective buys insufficient to prove the offense of delivering a substance in lieu of a controlled substance?<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is unlawful, ... for any person to offer, arrange, or negotiate for the sale, gift, delivery, dispensing, distribution, or administration of a controlled substance to any person and then sell, give, deliver, dispense, distribute, or administer to that person any other liquid, substance, or material in lieu of such controlled substance. RCW 69.50.4012(1).

7. Is RCW 69.50.010(1),<sup>2</sup> which criminalizes making premises available for drug activity, unconstitutional as applied to these facts?

8. Under RCW 69.50.435(1),<sup>3</sup> the school zone enhancement statute:

(a) Does the 1,000 feet distance from a school bus stop in subsection (c) refer to a radius on an aerial image or a linear measurement on the ground?

(b) Does the penalty in subsection (d) for an offense within 1,000 feet of "<u>the</u> school" refer to the school served by the bus stop in (c), rather than to "<u>a</u> school" referred to in RCW 69.50.435(1)(a)?

(c) If the statute is ambiguous, does the Rule of Lenity require an interpretation favorably to the accused?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>It is unlawful for any person who has under his or her management or control any building, room, space, or enclosure, either as an owner, lessee, agent, employee, or mortgagee, to knowingly rent, lease, or make available for use, with or without compensation, the building, room, space, or enclosure for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, delivering, selling, storing, or giving away any controlled substance ... . RCW 69.53.010(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> (1) Any person who violates RCW 69.50.401 ...(a) In a school; (b) On a school bus; (c) Within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district; [or] (d) Within one thousand feet of the perimeter of the school grounds; ... may be punished by a fine of up to twice the fine otherwise authorized by this chapter, ...or by imprisonment of up to twice the imprisonment otherwise authorized by this chapter[.] RCW 69.50.435(1).

#### III. <u>SUMMARY OF THE CASE</u>:

Appellant, Tawana Lea Davis, appeals her convictions for several drug-related convictions all of which ultimately rest upon evidence obtained in a series of fatally defective "controlled" buys. She challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, both as substantive evidence of delivery and as probable cause for a search warrant obtained by the police to search Ms. Davis's dwelling.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In late 2010, and early 2011, Tawana Davis was living at the Chieftain Motel in Bremerton, where she was employed. The room rent was deducted from her pay. RP 194.<sup>4</sup> The Chieftain was a notorious drug dealing site in a drug-infested area. RP 232.

The Bremerton drug enforcement team recruited two confidential informants, Laura Sutton and Robert White, to do controlled buys of meth from Ms. Davis. Both were methamphetamine addicts who were familiar with and accepted by the Chieftain Motel drug community. RP 30, 47, 51.

Laura Sutton was a meth addict and dealer who had just been "busted" with an offender score of 10. RP 30. She was facing serious time and made a deal with the Bremerton police for the standard "three-for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is in five consecutively paginated volumes.

free" informant contract, whereby drug addicts facing incarceration name three suppliers and conduct multiple buys with each. in exchange for a recommendation of leniency. Tawana Davis was one of Sutton's three names. RP 313. Sutton was a frequent visitor to the Chieftain and was acquainted with Tawana Davis. RP 350.

Robert White was also a meth addict. His incentive to work for Musselwhite was to obtain a favorable recommendation for his girlfriend who was facing drug charges. RP 47, 51.

Detective Musselwhite describes the routine at RP 146-49. The officers would meet with a CI in a relatively private spot near the motel where they would search the CI's body and vehicle and give them a quantity of recorded bills. The CI would then drive to the Chieftain, park, and go inside.

Unfortunately, the Chieftain was so situated that police could not conduct any meaningful surveillance. Musselwhite had to view the proceedings from a position on a nearby hill. RP 178. The police could not approach the motel, because everyone knew each other there. RP 179. The best surveillance Musselwhite could achieve was to overlook the motel grounds from the top of a nearby hill. RP 179. He could some of the front facing rooms and a slice of the front office, but no part of the

> McCABE LAW OFFICE P. O. Box 46668, Seattle, WA 98146 206-453-5604 • jordan.mccabe@comcast.net

parking lot. RP 218, 281-82. The CI handlers could not see the doors of any other rooms, however.

Accordingly, once a CI left the parking lot and entered the motel, the handlers had no way to monitor where in the motel the CI went or what he or she did while in there. RP 179, 282. All the police could do was wait.

The CIs would eventually emerge from the motel and drive to a rendezvous site where the officers would again search them and their vehicles.

Evidence that the target individual had engaged in the agreed buy. or had even been contacted, consisted solely of the CIs' uncorroborated word and the fact that they returned with drugs and no money.

Laura Sutton claimed to have done two controlled buys with Davis, one on November 16, and a second on December 3, 2010. in Room 108, which Davis then occupied. RP 164, 326.

Robert White claimed to have done a buy from Davis on December 30, 2010, in the Chieftain parking lot. On January 14, 2011, White alleged to have done a second buy, this one in Davis's new room. No. 102.

The police obtained a search warrant for Room 102. CP 261. They found some meth residue, a couple of scales, some packaging

material, and assorted personal paraphernalia. RP 83. The record contains no return of service or inventory.

Davis was charged with three counts of delivering, one count of possession, and one count of making premises available, all within 1,000 feet of a school bus stop and a school, in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1), RCW 69.53.010(1) and RCW 69.50.435(1)(c) & (d). CP 26-31. The State later added a couple of bail jumping charges for pretrial failures to appear, and a witness tampering charge. CP 43-49.

Davis was convicted by jury. CP 92-94. The jury also returned guilty verdicts on six school zone enhancements. CP 95-98. She appeals.<sup>5</sup>

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### 1. THE SO-CALLED "CONTROLLED" BUYS WERE FATALLY DEFECTIVE.

First, the protocol employed in these buys was inherently unreliable.

The "control" in a "controlled buy" must be sufficient to provide some degree of corroboration of an inherently untruthful informant's allegations. Specifically, it is not sufficient merely to search the informant before and after the buy. The police must also observe the informant's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Additional cites to the record are included with the issues.

entrance and exit to the buy location. *State v. Maddox*, 116 Wn. App. 796, 803, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003), *aff*<sup>\*</sup>d, 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004).

If done correctly, a 'controlled buy' can establish probable cause for a warrant. *State v. Casto*, 39 Wn. App. 229, 234, 692 P.2d 890 (1984). But where, as here, a controlled buy is offered in support of probable cause to search a suspect's residence, the circumstances must eliminate the possibility that the CI obtained evidence of criminal activity from a source other than the defendant or in a place other than the defendant's dwelling. The "control" must provide some degree of corroboration of the informant's allegations. In addition to searching the CI before and after the buy, the police must at minimum observe the informant actually enter and leave the buy location. *Maddox*, 116 Wn. App. at 803.

Thus, at minimum, a 'controlled buy' requires that officers actually observe the informant enter and exit the door of the residence. Otherwise. the police simply have no idea what happened. That is the case here.<sup>6</sup>

Each CI entered a motel and immediately disappeared from view. Some time later, the CI reappeared with drugs and without the buy money. The Chieftain was a notorious drug location.

Musselwhite himself testified that a controlled buy involves constant close surveillance of the CI from multiple viewpoints during the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The prosecutor conceded there was no surveillance, but told the jury the before and after searches were enough. RP 672-73.

buys. RP 149, 162. Yet these informants were completely out of sight for the duration of these buys. The buys essentially took place in a black box. Second, Musselwhite testified that he does not use any informant who has committed a rules violation that creates a "major reliability problem," "because they're no longer reliable as far as we're concerned." RP 160. Especially if they lie about something that pertains to the integrity of the evidence, "because so much relies on the fact that this evidence that I'm obtaining and this information that I'm using as evidence has to be relied upon." RP 161.

Again, this did not happen here. Information about the alleged buys came solely from Sutton and White. RP 653. But they were inherently unreliable.

Sutton violated the contract from the start. The State conceded that she showed up for the first alleged Davis buy with methamphetamine and paraphernalia in her purse and car and lied about them. RP 32, 34, 171, 452. She continued using drugs and dealing in the company of Davis between alleged controlled buys. RP 43.<sup>7</sup> Another resident of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Court: Now, did you just say that the informant purchased from the defendant other than the setup controlled buys? Prosecutor: Yes....[T]here was one instance between the controlled buys ... [when] she and her husband went to the defendant's motel room at the Chieftain and they purchased drugs from her and used them in the room. RP 43-44. The prosecutor argued to the jury that this was evidence of Sutton's reliability. RP 676.

Chieftain, her best friend, Ivy, was supplying her with drugs during the relevant time. RP 120, 313-14. The State conceded this was true. RP 44-45. And Sutton was arrested the day after the second alleged Davis buy for selling to a CI. RP 33. By trial time, she was serving a sentence of 100 months and had again been promised a recommendation for leniency in exchange for her testimony. RP 31.

Ms. Sutton, in addition to numerous prior drug-related felony convictions, had two forgery convictions, an identity theft conviction, and a few misdemeanor theft convictions. RP 169. In other words, she was known to be a meth-addicted liar, cheat and thief. In addition, she agreed to cooperate with Musselwhite because she was facing a 100-month sentence on drug charges. RP 28, 167. During an offer of proof before trial, Sutton admitted to what should have been disqualifying rules violations. She was dealing drugs during the entire period encompassed by the alleged Davis buys. RP 113. Her friend, Barbara Ivy, lived at the Chieftain and was getting drugs for her. RP 113-14. Sutton both bought and sold from Ivy during the Davis buy period. RP 115, 116.

Sutton even admitted having bought drugs from Barbara Ivy at the Chieftain motel before she went to Davis's room to do the buy. RP 113-14. She told a defense investigator she did drugs with Ivy at the Chieftain later that night. RP 40.

Robert White's buys were even more compromised. As with Sutton, Musselwhite was able to see White only as he approached and left the motel. CP 266. White returned from the first buy with a bag of something that looked nothing like methamphetamine. It was the wrong color and the wrong consistency. RP 211. White claimed not to have noticed, and Musselwhite believed him because this was not an uncommon turn of events in Musselwhite's controlled buys. RP 212, 216.

After he reported with "bunk" on the first buy, White was wired with a video camera for the second buy. RP 218. Although it was checked and was working fine immediately before the buy, the device mysteriously malfunctioned at the critical moment when White got out of his car. RP 266. As with the substitution of "bunk." this did not arouse the suspicion of Musselwhite and company, because it happened all the time. RP 222-23. Rather than suspecting that the word was out around the Chieftain that Musselwhite and Plumb would believe anything, they simply rationalized that CIs are inattentive when nervous and that cameras are sensitive and unreliable. RP 215, 482-83.

After the second buy, White showed up with a barely half the quantity he had been given buy money for. Meth was found in the back seat of his car, and eventually White admitted he had stolen the drugs. CP

267; RP 220, 227. The meth White turned over was 0.8 grams. On the back seat was 0.6 grams of large shards, not a sprinkling of dust. RP 464.

The best friend and regular meth supplier of informant Sutton lived at the Chieftain. Sutton admitted visiting this person during the "controlled" buys. Since she was out of Musselwhite's sight the entire time she was inside the motel, the possibility cannot be eliminated beyond reasonable doubt that Sutton gave the recorded bills to her friend and obtained meth from her.

Like Sutton, White was familiar with the Chieftain Motel. He was a regular drug customer there. RP 392. His girlfriend used to live there. RP 395. Like Sutton, his movements inside the motel were unrestricted and unmonitored. RP 398, 401.

Because of the fatal procedural defects, evidence obtained in the course of the supposedly controlled buys was insufficient as a matter of law as substantive evidence that Davis delivered anything to anybody.

The Court should reverse her convictions.

# 2. THE WARRANT TO SEARCH DAVIS'S ROOM LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE.

*Reviewability*. This Court generally does not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). A party may, however, appeal a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, even if the issue

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