#### NO. 42844-0-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### TAWANA DAVIS,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 11-1-00248-7

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

RUSSELL D. HAUGE **Prosecuting Attorney** 

RANDALL AVERY SUTTON **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** 

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

Jordan McCabe P.O. Box 46668 Seattle, WA 98146 jordan.mccabe@yahoo.com

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

#### 2. Facial Challenge

As discussed previously, the warrant in this case was facially sufficient to establish probable cause to search Davis's room. As such, Davis fails to show either deficient performance or prejudice.

#### 3. Franks hearing

The record is also insufficient to establish that counsel was ineffective for not seeking a *Franks*<sup>3</sup> hearing. Normally, once issued, a search warrant is entitled to a presumption of validity, and courts will give great deference to the magistrate's determination of probable cause and resolve any doubts in favor of the warrant. *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wash.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007). However, a warrant may be invalidated, and the fruits of a search may be suppressed, if the applying officer intentionally or recklessly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978).

omitted material information from the warrant affidavit. *Id.* A defendant challenging a warrant on this basis is entitled to an evidentiary hearing, if he makes a substantial preliminary showing of the omissions and their materiality. *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 155–56.

An omission or misrepresentation of the facts made in support of a search warrant may invalidate the warrant if it was (1) material, and (2) made deliberately or with reckless disregard for the truth. *State v. Copeland*, 130 Wn.2d 244, 277, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996); *State v. Garrison*, 118 Wn.2d 870, 872-73, 827 P.2d 1388 (1992). Reckless disregard for the truth exists if affiant entertained serious doubt as to the truth of the information in the absence of the omitted facts. *State v. Clark*, 68 Wn. App. 592, 600-01, 844 P.2d 1029 (1993); *aff'd*, 124 Wn.2d 90 (1994). Serious doubt is demonstrated by "(1) actual deliberation on the part of the affiant, or (2) the existence of obvious reasons to doubt the veracity of the informant or the accuracy of his reports." *Clark*, 68 Wn.App. at 600-01 (*quoting State v. Jones*, 55 Wn. App. 343, 346, 777 P.2d 1053 (1989)).

Innocent or negligent omissions do not affect the validity of the warrant. *Garrison*, 118 Wn.2d at 872; *State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 908, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). If the defendant fails to establish that the omission was deliberate or made with reckless disregard for the truth, then these omissions do not affect the validity of the warrant. *See Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d at 908; *State* 

v. Taylor, 74 Wn. App. 111, 117, 872 P.2d 53, review denied, 124 Wn.2d 1029 (1994).

Here, Davis charges Musselwhite with omitting the facts that White was a meth addict, that he regularly bought at the Chieftain, and that he regularly did drugs with Davis. Davis fails on this record to establish that these alleged omissions were deliberate or reckless. Moreover, it is also difficult to see how they detract from White's credibility. That an informant is a drug user is hardly startling information, and that fact that White bought drugs at the Chieftain, and did drugs with the defendant if anything tend to bolster his basis of knowledge and credibility.

Davis next argues that Musselwhite made a false statement that Davis told White during the third buy (which occurred the parking lot) that she had moved to Room 102. Davis misreads the record. White testified on direct (in the portion cited by Davis) that he believed at the time that Davis was living on the third floor. 3RP 398. However, on cross-examination, he clarified his testimony, and explained that while he thought that when he arrived for the third buy, Davis was in fact not living on the third floor. 3RP 423. The record is actually silent as to when Davis actually moved and how or when White learned that she had changed rooms. He testified that he did not recall if "if she told me, or if I actually asked the clerk at the front desk that it was apartment right below the office." 3RP 408. The record thus does not

establish that the representation was even untrue, much less that it was made deliberately or recklessly.

Davis also faults Musselwhite for not indicating that there were multiple controlled buys (involving other suspects) occurring at the Chieftain.<sup>4</sup> However, other than the fact that another warrant was served, the record is silent as to when these other deals took place, which informants or suspects or officers were involved, or any other specifics. The record thus fails to show that the alleged omission was material, or whether it was reckless or deliberate. Moreover, the mere fact that other drug dealing was going on in the vicinity is again hardly shocking. Nothing in this fact detracts from the fact that on four occasions informants with personal knowledge of the defendant and proven track records purchased methamphetamine or counterfeit methamphetamine from Davis at this location.

Davis fails to show that he would even have been entitled to a *Franks* evidentiary hearing, much less that the evidence would have been suppressed if one had been held. As such he fails to prove either deficient performance or prejudice. This claim should be rejected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Davis also alleges, Brief of Appellant at 16, that there were multiple buys occurring the day the warrant was executed. In fact the testimony on the cited page was that one other warrant was being executed that day. 2RP 230-31. As this fact was not in existence at the time the warrant was sought, it is difficult to understand the relevance of this point. Davis also mischaracterizes White's testimony that "all the deals" were happening at the Chieftain. In fact his testimony was that that was why *Davis* dealing there. RP 404.

# D. MOST OF THE IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE DAVIS FAULTS THE COURT FOR EXCLUDING WAS ACTUALLY ADMITTED AND THE REMAINDER WAS PROPERLY LIMITED.

Davis next claims that her right to cross-examine the informants was unconstitutionally limited. This claim is without merit because most of the evidence she faults the court for excluding was actually admitted and the remainder was properly limited.

Both the United States Constitution and the Washington State Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Const. art. 1, § 22. Although the right to confrontation should be zealously guarded, that right is not without limitation. *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (the right to confrontation is not absolute). The right to confrontation, and the associated right to cross-examine adverse witnesses, are limited by general considerations of relevance. *Id.* There is no constitutional right to admission of irrelevant evidence. *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 624.

### 1. Sutton

First it must be noted that Davis misrepresents the court's rulings.

See Brief of Appellant at 19. While it initially ruled that the evidence concerning Barbara Ivy was collateral, 1RP 40-41, after hearing an offer of

proof from Sutton, 2RP 112-18, the Court reversed its prior ruling. It then ruled that all of Sutton's activities at the Chieftain from November 16 through December 3 were admissible, including both her activities with Ivy and her drug use and (unauthorized) dealings with Davis. 2RP 124.

Indeed, Sutton testified on direct that she and her husband had purchased methamphetamine from Davis in between the two controlled buys, and smoked some of it with her. 3RP 350, 369-72. It was pointed out that this was a violation of her agreement. 3RP 370. She also testified that she bought drugs from Barb Ivy during this period as well. 3RP 372-73. These points were also explored on cross. 3RP 376-79.

Likewise, the Court initially planned to limit the discussion of the drugs and paraphernalia the detectives found in Sutton's car before the first controlled buy. 1RP 35-36. However, the court almost immediately reversed itself:

THE COURT: Just so we're clear. What was found in the car is going to come in. Mr. Thimons can cross-examine her about who the needle, residue, and baggie belonged to and she can explain. So all that is coming in.

1RP 37-38. And again, Sutton testified about the items that the detectives found in her car before the first buy. 3RP 352. On cross, Davis again discussed the implications of these items in terms of her contract with the police. 3RP 380. Counsel ended his cross-examination of Sutton with the

### following exchange:

- Q. Okay. When you were doing the contract with the detective, you knew that -- you were trying to work off a serious situation you were in, correct?
- A. \( \text{Yes.} \)
- Q. And even with that, you still engaged in criminal activity, correct?
- A. Yeah. Basically I thought maybe I could get away with doing what I was still doing and yet still -- it's called criminal thinking, sir.

### 3RP 381.

That leaves only two items that court actually limited: that Sutton received a 100-month sentence, and that she was arrested after the second buy for buying methamphetamine from another informant. Davis fails to show that either fact was relevant and admissible impeachment.

Davis did elicit from Sutton that she was working off charges and was facing a lengthy sentence at the time of the buys. 3RP 377. Davis had additionally sought before trial to elicit testimony that the sentence was 100 months. CP 35; 1RP 28-31.

Davis failed below, however, as she does now, to explain why her receiving a 100-month sentence would be relevant. To the contrary, it appears that she had already been sentenced at the time of trial. Once the sentence had been imposed, it is difficult to see how its length had any relevance at all. There was no evidence whatsoever that the State would

consider seeking to reduce the sentence based on her trial testimony.

Likewise, Davis fails to explain how the fact of Sutton's arrest would be relevant to impeach her. Sutton was asked about and admitted to buying and using drugs in violation of her contract. She admitted that she did it because she thought she could get away with it. Finally, given the extensive impeachment to which Sutton was subjected, it difficult to see how the exclusion of this one additional fact, particularly where she admitted the underlying conduct, could have possibly affected the outcome of the trial. Any purported error would be harmless.

### 2. White

Davis also faults the court for excluding evidence that some five months after her arrest, White again attempted to steal some of the methamphetamine that he obtained during a controlled buy in which he was acting as a paid informant. Davis, however, fails again to cite any authority in support of her claim that this was error.

Cross-examination "to show bias, prejudice or interest is generally a matter of right, but the scope or extent of such cross-examination is within the discretion of the trial court." *State v. Kunze*, 97 Wn. App. 832, 988 P.2d 977 (1999) (*quoting State v. Roberts*, 25 Wn. App. 830, 834, 611 P.2d 1297 (1980)). Under ER 608(b) impeachment with specific instances of

misconduct is subject to the discretion of the trial court. Failing to allow cross-examination of a crucial State's witness under ER 608(b) is an abuse of discretion only if the alleged misconduct constitutes the only available impeachment. *State v. Clark*, 143 Wn.2d 731, 766, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001). Once the witness is impeached, there is less need for further impeachment on cross. *Id*.

Additionally, "not every instance of ... even a key witness's ... misconduct is probative of a witness's truthfulness or untruthfulness under ER 608(b)." *State v. O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 119 P.3d 806 (2005). Relevant considerations to the court's exercise of discretion in admitting ER 608 evidence include whether the evidence is collateral to the question presented in the litigation and whether there are alternative avenues available for impeachment. *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 351-52. If the misconduct involved lying, whether the lying occurred under oath is also relevant. *Id*.

In O'Connor, which involved a far less collateral issue, the Supreme Court found that the trial court properly limited the cross examination. Here, the subsequent theft was neither shown to have been charged as a crime or to have involved lying under oath. More importantly, White was thoroughly impeached both on direct and cross-examination. It was brought out that he was a meth user and addict. 3RP 390, 421. The State inquired into White's taking of some of the drugs during the fourth controlled buy. 3RP 418-20.

On cross, the defense delved into the subject at length and in detail. 3RP 426-29. Davis also got White to admit that he violated his agreements to be truthful, to not engage in criminal activity, and to not consume drugs. 3RP 426. She brought out that he had lied to the officers about stealing the meth, 3RP 427, and that he had lied when he denied taking it during the pre-trial interview with the defense a few weeks before trial. 3RP 429. Davis also cross-examined White regarding the buy of the counterfeit substance and the failure of the video camera, with the tone of the examination suggesting that White was lying about these incidents as well. Given this substantial impeachment, it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in limiting evidence of an event that was unrelated to Davis's crimes and was remote in time and place. For the same reason, any error would be harmless.

E. DETECTIVE MUSSELWHITE'S BRIEF TESTIMONY THAT DAVIS TOLD SUTTON SHE HAD METHAMPHETAMINE AVAILABLE TO SELL, WHILE HEARSAY, WAS HARMLESS.

Davis next claims that the trial court erred in allowing Musselwhite to testify that Sutton told him Davis had methamphetamine to sell. The State would agree that the evidence was hearsay and not relevant to show context. *See State v. Edwards*, 131 Wn. App. 611, 614, 128 P.3d 631 (2006).

Nevertheless, the error was harmless. An evidentiary error by the trial

court such as admission of hearsay testimony is harmless unless, within reasonable probability, the outcome of the trial would have been materially different. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

Musselwhite's testimony was brief:

Q.□	What did Ms. Sutton tell you with respect to setting up this controlled buy –
<b>A</b> .□	She told me –
$Q$ . $\square$	limited to that.
<b>A</b> . □	She told me she called Tawana and asked if she could purchase if she had methamphetamine available for purchase and she was Tawana told her that there was methamphetamine available for purchase.

2RP 166. Moreover, it was completely redundant to Sutton's own non-hearsay testimony:

Q. All right. \( \sigma\) So turning to, let's focus on the November 16th buy.

How was that particular deal arranged? Explain how you came into the contact with the defendant, what your conversation was?

A. On that particular day, I had called that morning to ask if she was going to be available and when I could stop by. □ I said what I wanted. □ I asked her at that time if I could do a gram for 80 to get a special deal, and she said that she could probably do that. She said that we'd have to do it about noon because that was her lunch hour.

3RP 351. Sutton also provided similar testimony regarding the second buy:

Q. Okay. I want to move now to the second controlled buy on December 3rd.

How was this second deal arranged?

- A. □ Pretty much the same way over the phone that morning. Again, she said I had to wait until noon, her lunch hour. □ I said, okay.
- Q. Okay. And what was the agreement, what was the price and the drugs, the quantity?
- A. She couldn't do a gram that day. So I was only buying a 40, four tenths of a gram.
- Q.  $\Box$  For how much?
- A.□ \$40.

3RP 364.

Additionally, both informants testified that Davis in fact supplied them with methamphetamine, and returned from the motel to provide the methamphetamine to the police. As such, especially considering that the declarant presented the same testimony as that briefly mentioned by the detective, and described a second incident where Davis again told her that she could supply methamphetamine, it is difficult to see how exclusion of this very brief testimony could have changed the outcome of the case. Because the error was harmless, this claim should be rejected.

## F. THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIM PERTAINING TO COUNT III IS MOOT WHERE THE JURY ACQUITTED DAVIS OF THAT CHARGE.

Davis next claims that the evidence was insufficient to support her conviction of delivery of a substance in lieu of a controlled substance. Davis again misapprehends the standard of review as discussed above. However,

since Davis was in fact acquitted of this charge, the point is moot in any event.

## G. THE CRIME OF UNLAWFUL USE OF BUILDING FOR DRUG PURPOSES IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AS APPLIED TO DAVIS'S CONDUCT.

Davis next claims that the crime of unlawful use of building for drug purposes is unconstitutionally vague as applied to her conduct. Davis fails to demonstrate vagueness.

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